Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0215

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Case No. DA 23-0215

PATRICIA TAFELSKI, et al., on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v.

MARK JOHNSON, TAMMI FISHER, Plaintiffs-Objectors-Appellants,

v.

LOGAN HEALTH MEDICAL CENTER, Defendant-Appellee.

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from a Final Judgment of the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court, **Cascade County** District Court Cause No. ADV-22-0108 The Honorable John W. Parker, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

#### INTRODUCTION

Mark Johnson and Tammi Fisher, (hereinafter the "Mayors" or "Objectors"), 1 appeal the District Court's order awarding Class Counsel fees of \$1,433,333 (33.33% of the \$4.3 million settlement fund) for a case that was filed in March 2022 and settled four months later. During that short period, there was no motion for class certification, no depositions taken, no discovery propounded, no court hearings, and no appellate proceedings. Assuming a generous estimate of 300 hours of billable work by Class Counsel, their billing rate for this case would be nearly \$5,000 per hour. And Class Counsel will be paid first; thousands of class members, on the other hand, might receive no recovery at all.

The Mayors can only make an educated guess as to how many hours Class Counsel devoted to this case. Class Counsel have not provided <u>any</u> evidence of their time and labor, despite percentage-based fee awards requiring competent evidence of, *inter alia*, "the time and labor required to perform the legal service properly." *Gendron v. Montana Univ. Sys.*, 2020 MT 82, ¶14, 399 Mont. 470, 461 P.3d 115.

One of the class attorneys in this matter, John Yanchunis, sought appointment as class counsel in *In re Amla Litigation*, 320 F.R.D. 120 (S.D.N.Y

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Johnson is the current mayor of Kalispell. Fisher is a former mayor of Kalispell. They are litigating this matter in their personal capacities.

2017). The court rejected the appointment, however, because Mr. Yanchunis' behavior exemplified why "class actions have repeatedly come under criticism for being of the lawyers, by the lawyers, and for the lawyers." *Id.* at 122. This case is another one that is of the lawyers, by the lawyers, and for the lawyers. The District Court's judgment must be reversed.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the District Court abuse its discretion by awarding attorney fees of \$1,433,333 (33.33% of the settlement value) despite Class Counsel refusing to provide *any* evidence of their time and labor in support of their fee motion?
- 2. Did the District Court abuse its discretion by denying a motion for discovery by the Objectors?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a judgment granting final approval to a class action settlement arising from a breach of patient data at Defendant Logan Health in Kalispell (hereinafter, the "Hospital"). The Hospital announced the breach on February 18, 2022. Doc. 3, ¶ 5. Within two weeks, Class Counsel filed their complaint on March 2, 2022. D.C. Doc. 1. They filed an amended complaint on April 1, 2022. D.C. Doc. 3. Within four months, the Hospital settled on July 19,

2022, and agreed to pay \$4.3 million. D.C. Doc. 26, Decl. of Counsel, ¶ 11.

The District Court granted preliminary approval of the settlement on December 6, 2022. D.C. Doc. 24. Class Counsel filed a motion for attorney fees on January 13, 2023, and requested 33.33% of the \$4.3 million settlement fund. D.C. Doc. 26.

The Mayors filed an objection on February 8, 2023. D.C. Doc. 30. On that same day, they filed a motion for leave to propound discovery, D.C. Doc. 31, and a brief in support of the motion with their proposed discovery requests attached.

D.C. Doc. 32. Class Counsel filed a response to the discovery motion on February 21, 2023. D.C. Doc. 33. They filed a motion for final approval of the settlement on that same day. D.C. Doc. 34. The Mayors filed a response to Class Counsel's motion for final approval on February 27, 2023, D.C. Doc. 36, and a reply in support of their discovery motion on March 6, 2023. D.C. Doc. 39.

The District Court held a fairness hearing on March 9, 2016. See Hrg.

Trans. 1. In denying the discovery request, the District Court noted as follows:

Now I want to further note that if the facts had been different and there have been additional discovery that could have created a major risk of unreasonable delay for the Class Members and *potentially exposed*Objectors to some legal risk which, I think, is worth noting on the record.

Hrg. Trans. 81:18-23 (emphasis added).

The District Court issued a written order on March 16, 2023, granting final approval of the settlement, overruling the Mayors' objections, and denying their

discovery motion. D.C. Doc. 44. The court issued its Judgment that same day. D.C. Doc. 43. The Mayors timely filed a notice of appeal in this Court on April 11, 2023. D.C. Doc. 48.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This class action suit arises from a breach of patient data possessed by the Hospital. The Hospital suffered two prior data breaches before the breach at issue in this case: one in October 2019 and a smaller one in January 2021. D.C. Doc. 10 at 7-8. The former breach resulted in a class action suit. *Henderson v. Kalispell Regional Health*, 8th Jud. Dist., Cause No. CDV 19-0761.<sup>2</sup> Class Counsel for this matter also represented the class in *Henderson*. The court in *Henderson* issued a final approval order on January 5, 2021. Doc. 26, Decl. of Counsel, Exhibit A.

The Hospital discovered another breach of its patients' data in November 2021 that resulted in 213,000 patients (including approximately 175,000 Montanans) having their confidential data compromised. D.C. Doc. 3, ¶ 5. The Hospital notified the victims of the breach on February 18, 2022. D.C. Doc. 3, ¶ 5.

In March 2022, eight law firms filed five separate lawsuits against the Hospital: two in Flathead County, two in Cascade County, and one in federal court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Defendant Logan Health is the successor-in-interest to Kalispell Regional Health.

in Great Falls. This included the complaint in *Tafelski*, which was filed on March 1, 2022, and which ultimately became the lead case. D.C. Doc. 1.

The *Tafelski* attorneys, consisting of four law firms, filed a motion on May 18, 2022, seeking appointment as interim class counsel. D.C. Doc. 10. One of the firms that had filed in Flathead County, Morrison, Sherwood, Wilson & Deola, filed a motion to intervene in the *Tafelski* matter on June 6, 2022. D.C. Doc. 16. The Morrison firm offered to cap its fees at 20% of the amount recovered for the class if selected as interim counsel. D.C. Doc. 16 at 17.

The District Court nevertheless appointed the *Tafelski* firms as interim Class Counsel on June 21, 2022. D.C. Doc. 18. The Hospital stipulated to the appointment. Doc. 18 at 2.

Class Counsel and the Hospital participated in mediation on July 19, 2022, resulting in the Hospital agreeing to pay \$ 4.3 million. D.C. Doc. 26, Decl. of Counsel, ¶ 11. The proposed settlement agreement allowed for Class Counsel to request 33.33% of the settlement fund as attorney fees, with the Hospital agreeing not to oppose the request. D.C. Doc. 23, Exhibit A, ¶ 91. The agreement gave priority to class members claiming out-of-pocket losses. *Id.*, ¶ 67. If those claims exhaust the settlement fund, no other class members will be compensated. *Id.* 

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

#### Issue No. 1

A district court's grant or denial of attorney fees is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *In re Guardianship of A.M.M.*, 2015 MT 250, ¶ 18, 380 Mont. 451, 356 P.3d 474 (citations omitted). "A district court has abused its discretion if its award of attorney fees is not supported by substantial evidence." *Id.* (citations omitted). Awarding unreasonable fees also constitutes an abuse of discretion. *Gendron*, ¶ 11 ("When attorney fees are authorized, the controlling standard in all actions, including class actions, is that the amount of fees awarded be reasonable.").

### Issue No. 2

A district court's discovery rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. Palliser v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Montana, Inc., 2012 MT 198, ¶ 9, 366 Mont. 175, 285 P.3d 562. A class action settlement made before class certification requires "heightened scrutiny" by the district court to ensure that "sufficient information [is] provided to the class representatives, any objectors, and the district court to enable the parties and the court to reach a well-informed decision of whether the proposed settlement is fair, adequate and reasonable." Id., ¶ 35.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The District Court's order granting Class Counsel's fee motion was an abuse of discretion for at least two reasons.

First, Class Counsel did not present competent evidence in support of the fee award. Montana law required them to present evidence of, *inter alia*, "the time and labor required to perform the legal services properly" to qualify for a percentage-based fee award. *Gendron*, ¶ 14. Class Counsel stated only that they spent "significant" time investigating the case, devoted "many" hours to settlement negotiations, and dedicated "significant" time to finalizing the settlement agreement and related documents. D.C. Doc. 33 at 6-7. The resulting 33.33% fee award was "not supported by substantial evidence," *In re Guardianship of A.M.M.*, ¶ 18, and the District Court abused its discretion by awarding it.

Second, the District Court abused its discretion by awarding a windfall to Class Counsel. Montana law requires that a district court's discretion in setting fees for class counsel in a class action suit be "exercised so as to achieve a reasonable result." *Gendron*, ¶ 15. A windfall percentage award made to counsel after an early settlement is unreasonable. *Gisbrecht v. Barnhart*, 535 U.S. 789, 808 (2002) ("If the benefits are large in comparison to the amount of time counsel spent on the case, a downward adjustment is...in order" and a "court should disallow windfalls for lawyers.").

The Hospital notified the victims of the breach on February 18, 2022. Doc. 3, ¶ 5. Class Counsel filed their original complaint on March 2, 2022. D.C. Doc. 1. They filed an amended complaint on April 1, 2022. D.C. Doc. 3. Less than four months later, the parties settled. During that short period of time, there was no motion for class certification, no depositions taken, no discovery propounded, and no court hearings.<sup>3</sup> Assuming a generous estimate of 300 hours of billable work by Class Counsel, their billing rate for this case would be nearly \$5,000 per hour. This is entirely unreasonable. *In re Facebook Biometric Information Privacy Litigation*, 522 F. Supp. 3d 617, 631 (N.D. Cal. 2021) (rejecting an hourly billing rate of \$3,654 per hour for class counsel, "which is not reasonable by any measure.").

The District Court also abused its discretion by denying the Mayors' motion for discovery. This Court has held that objectors "can also seek discovery and access to information that can help the parties, counsel and the reviewing court determine if the agreement meets the fairness standard." *Palliser*, ¶ 27. Discovery as to Class Counsel's time and labor was particularly important to determine whether the award was fair for the Mayors and their 200,000 fellow class members.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For the Court's convenience, a copy of the District Court's Register of Actions showing entries made between the commencement of this action (March 2, 2022), and the settlement date (July 19, 2022) is attached to the Appendix at page 11.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. The District Court Abused Its Discretion by Granting Class Counsel's Fee Motion in the Absence of Any Evidence of Their Time and Labor

The Court has repeatedly required parties seeking attorney's fees to support their request with competent evidence, including in class action suits:

An award of fees, like any other award, must be based on competent evidence. Evidence elicited through oral testimony, cross examination, and the introduction of exhibits is competent evidence upon which an attorney's fee award can be based.

Gendron, ¶ 15; id. ("the court maintains broad discretion in its selection of the method of calculation and consideration of the guiding factors when awarding fees based on the competent evidence presented.") (emphasis added).

Basing fee awards upon competent evidence is important not only for the parties but also for the judiciary's reputation. *TCH Builders and Remodeling v. Elements of Constructions, Inc.*, 2019 MT 71, ¶ 27, 395 Mont. 187, 437 P.3d 1035 ("the proper determination of a legal fee is central to the efficient administration of justice and the maintenance of public confidence in the bench and bar."). This is particularly important for class action lawsuits affecting large segments of the public. *City of Detroit v. Grinnell*, 495 F.2d 448, 469 (2d Cir. 1974) ("For the sake of their own integrity, the integrity of the legal profession, and the integrity of Fed. R. Civ. P.] 23, it is important that the courts should avoid awarding 'windfall

fees' and that they should likewise avoid every appearance of having done so."); see also *Goldberger v. Integrated Resources, Inc.*, 209 F.3d 43, 57 (2d Cir. 2000) (noting "our nagging suspicion that attorneys in [class action] cases are routinely overcompensated for such things as contingency risk.").

Competent evidence is especially important when deciding fee motions in pre-certification settlement cases. Because class members are absent during settlement negotiations, "class counsel and defense counsel may develop an alliance" and agree to reduce the overall settlement to be paid by the defendant in exchange for an increased allocation of that settlement to the class counsel. Palliser, ¶¶ 23-24. This risk requires "the district judge in the settlement phase of a class action suit [to be] a fiduciary of the class," and "subject therefore to the high duty of care that the law requires of fiduciaries." *Id.*, ¶ 24. Judges must subject settlement agreements in pre-certification cases to "heightened scrutiny," which "mandates that there be sufficient information provided to the class representatives, any objectors, and the district court to enable the parties and the court to reach a well-informed decision of whether the proposed settlement is fair, adequate and reasonable." *Id.*, ¶ 35. A fee motion unsupported by <u>any</u> evidence of class counsel's hours prevents district courts from fulfilling their fiduciary duty in at least two ways.

First, the district court is deprived of its discretion to select the method to calculate fees. Attorney fees in class actions can be calculated using either (1) the lodestar method, which involves multiplying the number of hours reasonably spent on the case by an appropriate hourly rate for such work, or (2) the percentage method, which authorizes fees to be paid from a percentage of a common fund or a contingency fee agreement. *Gendron*, ¶ 12. A district court has "broad discretion in its selection of the method of calculation and consideration of guiding factors when awarding fees based on the competent evidence provided." *Id.* Class counsel can deprive the district court of its discretion to choose the lodestar method, however, by refusing to present any billing information. Though the district court has the discretion to choose a percentage-based award rather than the lodestar, that choice belongs to the district court, not class counsel.

Second, even if a district court chooses the percentage method, there must still be competent evidence showing "the time and labor required to perform the legal service properly." *Gendron*, ¶ 14; *Lawler v. Johnson*, 253 So.3d 939, 953-54 (Ala. 2017) (for percentage-based fee awards, "the amount of time expended on behalf of the class is still a relevant factor that should be considered when determining a reasonable attorney fee in a class-action case."). Omitting evidence of time and labor from a fee motion prevents the district court from making a reviewable finding on the issue.

A fee motion unsupported by any billing evidence also hampers objectors' ability to evaluate the reasonableness of class counsel's fee request. Illustrating this point are several decisions holding that untimely fee motions prejudice class members by forcing them to decide whether to object without having reviewed class counsel's billing information. See, e.g., Redman v. RadioShack Corp., 768 F.3d 622, 637-38 (7th Cir. 2014) (class members "were handicapped in objecting because the details of class counsel's hours and expenses were submitted later, with the fee motion, and so they did not have all the information they needed to justify their objections."); In re Mercury Interactive Corp. Securities Litigation, 618 F.3d 988, 994 (9th Cir. 2010) (class members "could not provide the court with critiques of the specific work done by [class] counsel when they were furnished with no information of what that work was, how much time it consumed. and whether and how it contributed to the benefit of the class"); see also *Johnson* v. NPAS Solutions, LLC, 975 F.3d 1244, 1252 (11th Cir. 2020). If objectors are prejudiced by untimely disclosures of class counsel's hours, it follows a fortiori that they are prejudiced when those disclosures do not occur at all.

Class Counsel in this matter have never disclosed how much time and labor they invested in this case. They told the District Court simply that they spent "significant" time investigating the case, devoted "many" hours to settlement negotiations, and dedicated "significant" time to finalizing the settlement

agreement and related documents. D.C. Doc. 33 at 6-7. Adjectives, however, are not competent evidence of time and labor. Indeed, Class Counsel refused to prepare any billing records for this case. As explained by one of the members of Class Counsel, "I took on this case on a contingency fee basis and so there was no reason to do billing records." Hrg. Trans., p. 61:22-24.

By contrast, Class Counsel have acknowledged that they provide "detailed billing records" in out-of-state class action suits. Doc. 34 at 25. <sup>4</sup> That they have not provided such data in this matter is telling.

Despite the dearth of evidence provided by Class Counsel, the District Court determined that "the offer of proof from Class Counsel confirmed that significant time and effort went into achieving this settlement." D.C. Doc. 44 at 7; Appendix at 7. Class counsel's "offer of proof" as to the "significant" time spent on this case, however, consisted solely of assertions that they devoted "significant" time to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Along with the cases cited in their brief, there are several other cases in which Class Counsel provided courts with their hours when seeking percentage-based fees. See, *e.g.*, *McKnight* v. *Hinojosa*, 54 F.4th 1069, 1074 (9th Cir. 2022); *In re TikTok, Inc., Consumer Privacy Litigation*, 2022 WL 2982782, \*29 (N.D. Ill. July 28, 2022); *In re Zoom Video Communications, Inc. Privacy Litigation*, 2022 WL 1593389, \*11 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 21, 2022); *Kukorinis v. Walmart*, 2021 WL 8892812, \*4 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 21, 2021); *Richards v. Chimes Financial, Inc.* 2021 WL 2075689, \*8 (N.D. Cal. May 24, 2021).

the case. D.C. Doc. 33 at 6-7. This conclusory evidence was insufficient to support a reviewable finding of time and labor. *Gendron*, ¶ 14.<sup>5</sup>

And it was insufficient for a "proper determination of a legal fee" and, therefore, injurious to "public confidence in the bench and bar." *TCH Builders*, ¶ 27. Most class action suits involve class members spread out across a state or, sometimes, across the nation. In this case, however, the class members are all patients of the Hospital in Kalispell. As a result, a substantial majority of the over 200,000 class members in this case reside in northwest Montana. Nearly every person in that area either is a class member or knows one. There is intense local interest in this case, as shown by the fact that both the current and former mayors of Kalispell are objectors, and the press has already published several stories about Class Counsel's obscene fees.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The District Court also approved Class Counsel's request for \$23,334.12 "for costs and expenses that were reasonably and necessarily incurred to litigate this case." Doc. 44 at 8; Appendix at 8. Class Counsel never identified what those costs and expenses were, thereby preventing the Court and the Mayors from having any way to verify the reasonable (or even the existence) of the costs and expenses. They provided only a small chart showing the total amount of expenses allegedly incurred by each of the four firms representing the class. D.C. Doc. 26, Decl. of Counsel, ¶ 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Darrel Ehrlick, *Kalispell Mayor, Former Mayor Object to Settlement in Logan Health Data Breach*, DAILY MONTANAN, Feb. 18, 2023; Derrick Perkins, Mayor, Former Mayor Challenge Settlement of Class-Action Lawsuit Against Logan Health, DAILY INTER LAKE, Feb. 14, 2023.

The public is watching this case. If affirmed by this Court, the windfall awarded to Class Counsel, without *any* evidence of their time and labor, will inevitably undermine public confidence in the bench and bar

# II. The District Court Abused Its Discretion by Awarding a Windfall to Class Counsel

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