09/01/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0215

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court Case No. DA 23-0215

PATRICIA TAFELSKI, et al., on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v.

MARK JOHN, TAMMI FISHER, Objectors-Appellants,

v.

LOGAN HEALTH MEDICAL CENTER, Defendant-Appellee.

PLAINTIFF APPELLEES RESPONSE BRIEF

On Appeal from a Final Judgment of the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court,
Cascade County
District Court Cause No. ADV-22-0108
The Honorable John W. Parker, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

HEENAN & COOK, PLLC	AHDOOT & WOLFSON, PC
John Heenan	Andrew Ferich (pro hac vice)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court did not abuse its discretion by awarding Appellees' Counsel a 1/3 contingency fee. Appellees' Counsel pursued and secured an excellent settlement which provides substantial benefits for hundreds of thousands of Montanans whose personal information (including names, dates of birth, Social Security numbers, and other protected health information) was exposed to malicious actors. The District Court agreed that the contingency-based model "incentivized Class Counsel to be efficient with the prosecution of this case and in seeking maximum relief to the class, particularly given the cannibalizing/wasting insurance policy at issue." (Dkt. 44). This Court has explained:

It is axiomatic that the effective lawyer will not win all of his cases, and any determination of the reasonableness of his fees in those cases in which his client prevails must take account of the lawyer's risk of receiving nothing for his services. Charges on the basis of a minimal hourly rate are surely inappropriate for a lawyer who has performed creditably when payment of any fee is so uncertain.

Wight v. Hughes Livestock Co., Inc., 204 Mont. 98 (1983).

Objectors admit there is no record evidence to suggest Appellees' counsel are not entitled to that contingency-based fee award. (Brief, at 1). Instead, Objectors repeat their unfounded speculation—the foundation of their overruled objection in the District Court—that Appellees' counsel spent "a generous estimate of 300 hours

of billable work" and that "thousands of class members . . . might receive no recovery at all." (Brief, at 1). Not only are these suppositions factually unmerited and contradicted by the robust record docket activity, they also are woefully inadequate under the law. Appellees' Counsel specialize in the narrow and complex data breach and privacy class action space, have repeatedly been recognized as competent and adequate class counsel, and have successfully litigated numerous cases securing similar benefits in comparable cases—including in another data breach in Montana. The District Court appropriately considered Appellees' Counsel's experience, skill, and reputation in this complex and novel space when it awarded them their requested attorneys' fees.

Objectors' personal attacks on Mr. Yanchunis' reputation are unfounded. Mr. Yanchunis is routinely recognized by courts across the country for his expertise, skill, and reputation in data security and privacy cases. (Dkt. 34). That a court in a different state applying that state's law previously exercised its discretion to perform a lodestar crosscheck does not render as error the District Court's same exercise of discretion to decline a lodestar crosscheck.

In attacking Mr. Yanchunis, Objectors also insinuate misconduct by the law firm of Ahdoot & Wolfson, PC ("Ahdoot Wolfson") in previous litigation. (Brief, at 24-25). Like much of Objectors' appellate brief, these positions are virtually copied and pasted from their overruled objections. Ahdoot Wolfson vehemently denies Mr.

Monforton's allegations (whether explicit or implicit). Ahdoot Wolfson has *never* been reprimanded or criticized by any court for time and billing practices and has never been found to have engaged in a "reverse auction" during its more than 25-year history. The *Flagstar* and *Kroger* data breach litigations Objectors reference are no exception. In both of those cases, the arguments were rejected and the requests denied. *See, e.g., Cochran, et al. v. The Kroger Co., et al.*, No. 5:21-cv-01887-EJD, ECF No. 115 (N.D. Cal.) (approving \$5 million non-reversionary settlement).

The District Court also did not abuse its discretion by denying Objectors' Discovery Motion. The law is clear: objectors are not per se entitled to discovery in class cases, and only upon a showing of collusion *might* an objector be entitled to discovery if the district court deems it appropriate. Here, Objectors offered no proof of any collusion, the record clearly demonstrates there was no collusion, the parties represented as experienced and respected officers of the Court that the insurance policy was cannibalizing, and the District Court properly found that discovery was not necessary in light of that "clear confirmation" from counsel. (Dkt. 44).

The Court should deny Objectors' baseless appeal *post haste* so the class can finally receive the Settlement benefits which Objectors have needlessly delayed. The Court should sanction Objectors for their baseless appeal that has caused harm to class members.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion Granting the Motion for Attorneys' Fees

A. The attorneys' fees motion was properly noticed and disclosed

As an initial matter, Objectors lean heavily into three cases to (wrongly) suggest resolution of attorneys' fees in class actions requires a lodestar crosscheck. (Brief, at 12). Those cases do *not* stand for that proposition. Instead, those cases simply require class counsel seeking attorneys' fees in class actions submit their requests *before the objection deadline*. *Redman v. RadioShack Corp.*, 768 F.3d 622, 637–38 (7th Cir. 2014) (error where attorneys' fees motion was filed after objection deadline); *In re Mercury Interactive Corp. Sec. Litig.*, 618 F.3d 988, 994 (9th Cir. 2010) (same); *Johnson v. NPAS Solutions, LLC*, 975 F.3d 1244, 1249 (11th Cir. 2020) (same).

Unlike those cases, Appellees' counsel complied with the District Court's schedule, filed their attorneys' fees motion before the objection deadline, and published that motion to the Settlement Website where all Class Members could review and, if desired, respond to the motion. (Dkt. 26). Appellees' compliance is further evidenced by Objectors' Objection being filed ahead of the objection deadline. (Dkt. 30). No other objections were filed, whether before the deadline, after the District Court granted the attorneys' fees motion, or after the purported "several stories" being published about the attorneys' fees award. (Brief, at 14, n.6).

B. The District Court properly considered and analyzed the *Gendron* factors in awarding the requested attorneys' fees

Objectors concede that the District Court "maintains broad discretion in its selection of the method of calculation and consideration of the guiding factors when awarding fees based on the competent evidence presented." (Brief, at 9) (citing *Gendron*, ¶ 15). This broad discretion is not abused if the attorneys' fees determination is supported by an "adequate rationale." *Id.* (citing *Head v. Central Reserve Life of North Am. Ins. Co.*, 258 Mont. 188, 205 (1993). Moreover, "the experienced trial judge is the best judge of the value of professional services rendered in his court, and while his judgment is of course subject to review, it will not be disturbed unless the appellate court is convinced that it is clearly wrong." *Laffitte v. Robert Half Int'l., Inc.*, 1 Cal.5th 480, 488 (2016).

The District Court correctly concluded that the case was complex and novel, beyond the capacity of general practitioners, and Counsel's contingent representation incentivized efficiency to obtain maximum relief to the class, particularly with a cannibalizing insurance policy. (Dkt. 44). Logan Health denied liability from the beginning and expressed an intention to defend itself through trial; there are few attorneys willing and capable of taking on a case of this nature. (Dkts. 26, 44). Engaging in complex motion practice, discovery, trial, and any appeal to prove liability and secure an executable judgment already presented an inherent risk to continued litigation. (Dkt. 26) (citing *In re Equifax Inc. Customer Data Sec.*

Breach Litig., 2020 WL 256132 (N.D. Ga. Mar. 17, 2020); In re Sonic Corp. Customer Data Sec. Breach Litig., 2019 WL 3773737, at *7 (N.D. Ohio Aug. 12, 2019); In re Anthem, Inc. Data Breach Litig., 327 F.R.D. 299, 315 (N.D. Cal. 2018)). Adding to the complexity and risk of non-payment was the cannibalizing insurance policy. The District Court correctly found that these factors weigh in favor of a percentage-of-recovery analysis, particularly given the imbalance of litigation power and resources between Logan Health and class members. (Dkt. 44); see also Charles I. Friedman, P.C. v. Microsoft Corp., 141 P.3d 824 (Az. Ct. Appeals. 2006) (recognizing that the risk of non-payment justified an upward adjustment of attorneys' fees in a class action settlement).

The District Court compared the relief from other data breach settlements with the relief obtained for the hundreds of thousands of Montanans in this case and correctly determined that the substantial monetary relief and robust security improvements obtained—because of Appellees' Counsel's efforts—favored a percentage-of-recovery approach. The Settlement provided approximately \$21.22 per class member—one of the higher per capita settlements in data breaches, with actual payouts projected to be even higher—with 3 years of credit monitoring available to any class member who submitted a claim, constituting superior relief on a per-capita basis compared to twelve data breach settlements approved during the past decade. (Dkts. 34, 44).

The District Court also correctly observed that the percentage-of-recovery calculation is standard in class litigation, and an overwhelming body of Montana law supports 1/3 contingency fees—including the data breach settlement from Objector counsel's mayoral tenure. (Dkts. 26, 44) (citing Henderson v. Kalispell Regional Healthcare, No. CDV-19-0761, awarding as reasonable 1/3 attorneys' fees from \$4.2 million common fund; Mr. Monforton did not object); Sones v. Rimrock Engineering, Inc., No. DV 19-0575 (finding a 1/3 contingent fee from \$3.45 million common fund reasonable); Hageman v. AT&T Mobility, No. CV-13-50-DLC-RWA (finding a 1/3 contingent fee from \$45 million fund reasonable); Boyd v. Bank of Am. Corp., 2014 WL 6473804 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 18, 2014) (awarding 1/3 attorneys' fees from common fund because the heightened risk and good result commanded a larger percentage fee). While courts may employ a lodestar crosscheck, that decision is within the court's discretion, and Objectors offer zero evidence to demonstrate why the District Court's well-informed decision to forego a lodestar crosscheck constitutes an abuse of discretion in light of well-established jurisprudence.

The District Court also considered and correctly held Appellees' uncontroverted record activity in the case adequately demonstrated the amount of time and effort expended. (Dkt. 44). Objectors brought only rank speculation, failing to proffer any evidence—whether by expert testimony or any other means—that the record activity was insufficient to demonstrate Appellees' counsel devoted

substantial time and resources to the case. (Dkt. 30). While Objectors would have this Court believe the litigation was resolved in a "matter of weeks," the record demonstrates the parties engaged in significant motion practice, exchanged discovery, prepared for and attended mediation, and even with that substantial work, it took a mediator's \$4.3 million double-blind proposal to settle the case. (Dkt. 44).

Appellees' counsel's job was not done after settling in principle. For weeks thereafter, the parties engaged with Logan Health's counsel to finalize settlement negotiations and details. Then, the parties worked to formalize the terms of the settlement, notice plan, and other matters over a period of nearly three months to finalize the Settlement Agreement and bring substantial and robust relief to affected Montanans. (Dkt. 44).

Finally, the District Court properly considered the experience, skill, and reputation of Class Counsel to achieve the results secured and recognized the lucrative work they declined to pursue this case. (Dkt. 44). Appellees' Counsel enjoy a nationwide reputation for pursuing some of the toughest and most complex privacy cases. The District Court considered that experience, skill, and reputation when it appointed Appellees' Counsel as interim class counsel. (Dkt. 18). Objectors' criticisms of Mr. Yanchunis amount to cherry-picked orders irrelevant to this litigation. Objectors also wholly ignore the body of privacy litigation Appellees' Counsel have pursued over decades of practice, recovering billions of dollars in

monetary relief for consumers including in: In re Capital One Consumer Data Security Breach Litigation, No. 1:19-md-2915-AJT (E.D. Va.) (\$190 million settlement); In re Yahoo! Inc. Customer Data Security Breach Litigation, No. 5:16md-2752-LHK (N.D. Cal.) (\$117.5 million settlement); In re: The Home Depot, Inc. Customer Data Security Breach Litigation, No. 1:14-md-2583-TWT (N.D. Ga.) (\$29 million settlement); In re: Equifax, Inc. Customer Data Security Breach Litigation, No. 1:17-md-2800-TWT (N.D. Ga.) (\$380.5 million settlement); see (Dkts. 9, 10, 18, 44); In re Zoom Video Communications, Inc. Privacy Litigation, No. 5:20-cv-02155-LHK (N.D. Cal.) (\$85 million settlement); Rivera v. Google LLC, No. 2019-CH-00990 (Ill. Cir. Ct.) (\$100 million settlement); Experian Data Breach Litigation, No. 8:15-cv-01592-AG-DFM (C.D. Cal.) (\$150 million settlement value). The District Court rightly recognized that Appellees' Counsel's time and resources are finite, and that this case caused them to forego other litigation. (Dkt. 44).

The District Court's exercise of discretion in declining to apply a lodestar crosscheck is abundantly reasonable given the robust record considered. (Dkt. 44).

C. The Settlement is clearly non-collusive

Objectors' suggestion of collusion to settle this case is baseless and patently offensive. First, "[i]n the context of class action settlements, formal discovery is not a necessary ticket to the bargaining table where the parties have sufficient

Information to make an informed decision about settlement." *Linney v. Cellular Alaska P'ship.*, 151 F.3d 1234, 1239 (9th Cir. 1998). Sufficient discovery takes place where the parties exchange adequate information to apprise themselves of their case's strengths and weaknesses. *Mondrian v. Trius Trucking, Inc.*, 2022 WL 6226843, *8 (E.D. Cal. Oct. 7, 2022). The core focus is whether the parties carefully investigated the claims before reaching a resolution.

Second, as the District Court noted—and Objectors have no basis to dispute the mediation initially resulted in impasse. (Dkt. 44). Only after the mediator's double-blind \$4.3 million proposal (and weeks of continued negotiations) did the parties resolve the case and sign the Settlement Agreement. (Dkt. 44). The record demonstrates this is not the kind of case where the parties agreed to resolution before mediation. Instead, the parties engaged in substantial pre-mediation discovery and engaged in the unsuccessful day-long mediation. The case only settled after the mediator's proposal. (Dkt. 44). The negotiations were at arms-length without collusion. See, e.g., In re Bluetooth Headset Prods. Liability Litig., 654 F.3d 935, 948 (9th Cir. 2011) (engaging in formal mediation with an experienced mediator favors "a finding of non-collusiveness"); Swain v. Anders Group, LLC, 2022 WL 5250139, *10 (E.D. Cal. Oct. 6, 2022) (same) (quoting Adoma v. Univ. of Phx., Inc., 913 F. Supp. 2d 964, 977 (E.D. Cal. 2012) (cleaned up)); see also Mondrian, 2022 WL 6226843, *8 (same).

Finally, the Settlement is non-reversionary, weighing heavily against any suggestion of collusion. Cases where courts have identified "subtle signs" of collusion include those where the defendant is set to recover some of the settlement fund through a reversionary agreement. *See, e.g., Zwicky v. Diamond Resorts Mgmt. Inc.*, 343 F.R.D. 101 (D. Az. Nov. 15, 2022) (rejecting settlement without prejudice to re-file and correct, inter alia, "subtle signs" of collusion); *Maree v. Deutsche Lufthansa AG*, 2022 WL 5052582, *4 (C.D. Cal. Sep. 30, 2022) (denying claimsmade settlement due to the "clandestine" nature of settlement negotiations conducted without any formal discovery). Not even "subtle signs" of collusion exist here.

II. There is No Evidence a "Windfall" was Awarded to Class Counsel

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